UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
For the Fifth Crcuit

No. 01-20977

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,

Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS

VI CTOR HUGO CASTRO, al so known as Torvi c,
al so known as Tor by,

Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
For the Southern District of Texas

(H 00- CR- 30-2)
Septenber 5, 2002

Bef ore DeMOSS, STEWART, and DENNI'S, Circuit Judges.
DeMOSS, Circuit Judge:”

The Appel lant, Victor Hugo Castro (“Castro”), was charged in
an indictnment with six counts of aiding and abettingwthintent to
distribute a controlled substance and one count of conspiracy to

possess with intent to distribute a controlled substance. On

"Pursuant to 5TH QR R 47.5, the Court has determ ned that
this opinion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the Ilimted circunstances set forth in 5THQR R 47.5. 4.



Septenber 18, 2000, Castro entered a plea of quilty to the

conspi racy count. The governnent then dism ssed the renaining

counts. Castro was sentenced to a term of inprisonnment of 189

mont hs on June 22, 2001. Castro now appeals this sentence.
BACKGROUND

Between June and Septenber of 1998, the United States
conducted court authorized wre interception on Jorge Castro’'s
pager, hone tel ephone and cel | ul ar phone.? These interceptions | ed
to the surveillance of several other individuals who were |ater
indicted for conspiracy and other drug charges. Anobng those that
were under surveillance was the Appellant, Castro. The wre
i nterceptions and surveill ance reveal ed that Castro was i nvol ved in
cocai ne and crack cocai ne trafficking, and the governnent all eges
that these also revealed that Castro was a manager of the drug
trafficking activities.

Castro was charged, along with Jorge Eliecer Castro, Jhoymar
Angul o- Castro, Nurya Jam | eth Estrada, Absalon Mirill o-Gnboa and
Javier Martinez Sanchez, by indictnment on January 19, 2000, in the
United States Court for the Southern District of Texas, wth
conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute five kil ogranms or
nmore of a m xture or substance containing cocaine and 50 grans or
more of a mxture or substance containing cocaine base or crack

cocaine in violation of 21 U S.C. § 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(B) and 21

2Jorge Castro is the Appellant’s brother.
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U S C 8 846 (count 1), and six counts of aiding and abetting with
intent to distribute a controlled substance in violation of 21
US C § 841(a)(l), (b)(1)(A, (b)(1)(B) and (b)(1)(C and 18
US C 82 (counts 3-8). Castro entered a plea of guilty to count
one of the indictnment and was sentenced to 189 nont hs confi nenent
and to a five-year termof supervised release. The district court

al so ordered Castro to pay a $100 speci al assessnent and a $5, 000

fine. The remaining counts were dismssed on a notion by the
governnent. Castro now appeals claimng that the district court
erred in not considering his status as an illegal alien when

sentencing him that it erred in assessing a three |evel
enhancenent due to his role as a nmanager and that it erred in
hol di ng hi maccountabl e for 231 grans of crack cocaine in |ight of
Appr endi .

DI SCUSSI ON

The tineliness of Castro' s appeal.

The district court sentenced Castro on June 22, 2001, and
entered judgnent on July 5, 2001. Apparently, the notice of entry
of judgnment was inadvertently sent to the wong attorney and
Castro’s attorney was not notified of the mstake until July 31,
2001, at which time Castro’s counsel filed a Mtion for Extension
of Time to File Notice of Appeal. The district court ruled on his

nmoti on on Septenber 20, 2001, and granted Castro until Cctober 1,



2001, to file his Notice of Appeal. Castro’ s Notice of Appeal was
then filed on Septenber 24, 2001.

Under Fed. R App. P. 3(a), “[a]n appeal permtted by | aw as
of right froma district court to a court of appeals may be taken
only by filing a notice of appeal with the clerk of the district
court within the tine allowed by Rule 4.7 “Rule 3's dictates are
jurisdictional in nature, and their satisfactionis a prerequisite
to appellate review.” Smth v. Barry, 502 U S. 244, 248 (1992).
According to Rule 4(b), a notice of appeal in a crimnal case nust
be filed in the district court within 10 days of entry of the
j udgnent . Fed. R App. P. 4(Db). However, “[u]pon a finding of
excusabl e negl ect or good cause, the district court may - before or
after the tinme has expired, with or without notion and notice -
extend the tinme to file a notice of appeal for a period not to
exceed 30 days fromthe expiration of the time otherw se prescri bed
by this Rule (4)(b).” Fed. R App. P. 4(b)(4) (enphasis added).

Though the district court could extend the tine to file, this
would still limt the tine to file to the ten-plus-thirty days
provided for in Fed. R App. P. 4(b) and Septenber 24 was beyond
that tinme range. However, “[i]f a docunent filed within the tinme
specified by Rule 4 gives the notice required by Rule 3, it is
effective as a notice of appeal.” Smth, 502 U S. at 248-49. The
Motion for Extension of Tine to File was filed on July 31, 2001,

wthin the ten-plus-thirty day time |limt. The notion also



identified the parties taking the appeal, the judgnent being
appeal ed fromand that it was appealing the matter to the court of
appeals. It therefore can act as the functional equivalent of a
Notice of Appeal. See Andrade v. California, 270 F.3d 743, 751-52
(9th Cr. 2001) (noting that such notions are functiona

equi valents when the notion identifies the parties taking the
appeal , the judgnent or order being appealed fromand the court to
whi ch the appeal is taken); Dillon v. United States, 184 F. 3d 556,
557 (6th Cr. 1999) (“[Where only one avenue of appeal exists,
Rule 3(c)(1)(C is satisfied even if the notice of appeal does not
nanme the appellate court.”).

Castro's Mbtion for Downward Departure based on his alien status

Castro contends that the district court abused its discretion
in denying his notion for departure based on his deportable alien
status. Prior to sentencing, Castro objected to the presentence
report on the ground that it failed to state that he was a
deportable alien who would do 100 percent of his sentence as
opposed to the usual 85 percent for inmates who are U.S. citizens.
At sentencing, defense counsel did not expand on his notion, and
the district court found that the nmere fact that Castro was a
deportable alien did not place his case outside the heartland of
t he gui deli nes.

This Court has jurisdictionto review a defendant’s chall enge

to a sentence “only if it was inposed in violation of |aw, was



inposed as a result of a msapplication of the sentencing
gui delines; was the result of an upward departure; or was inposed
for an offense for which there is no sentencing guideline and is
pl ai nly unreasonable. United States v. D Marco, 46 F.3d 476, 477
(5th Gr. 1995) (citing 18 U. S.C. 8§ 3742(a)). “The inposition of
a | awmful sentence coupled with the decision not to depart fromthe
gui delines provides no ground for relief.” ld. (citing United
States v. Mro, 29 F.3d 194, 198-99 (5th Gr. 1994). However, a
district court’s refusal to depart from the guidelines can be
reviewed by this Court only if the district court based its
deci sion upon an erroneous belief that it |acked the authority to
depart. United States v. Val enci a- Gonzal es, 172 F. 3d 344, 346 (5th
Cr. 1999); D Marco, 46 F.3d at 478 (noting that other circuits
have held that “appellate review is available for clains that the
district court erroneously believed that it |acked authority to
depart from the sentencing guideline range”); United States v.
Wl son, 249 F.3d 366, 380 (5th Gr. 2001). The burden of proving
a msapplication of the Guidelines is on the party chall enging the
sentence on appeal. United States v. Corley, 978 F.2d 185, 186
(5th Gir. 1992).

Castro argues that the district court erred because it failed
to take into consideration the Supreme Court’s decision in United
States v. Koon, 518 U. S. 81 (1996), which held that district courts

have broad discretion to depart from the GCuidelines when a
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particular case is outside the “heartland” of Quideline cases.
Under the standard articul ated above, however, we can only review
the district court’s decision if it was made under the m staken
belief that it could not <consider his deportable status.
Therefore, in order to review the decision, “sonmething in the
record nust indicate that the district court held such an erroneous
belief.” United States v. Landerman, 167 F.3d 895, 899 (5th Cr
1999). “[A] district court’s summary denial w thout explanation
does not indicate any such erroneous belief.” Val enci a- Gonzal es,
172 F. 3d at 346 (citing United States v. Aggarwal, 17 F. 3d 737, 745
(5th Gr. 1994)). Nothing asserted by Castro | eads us to believe
that the district court was ignorant of the Koon decision or felt
constrained fromconsidering his deportable status. Quite to the
contrary, the district court stated, with regard to the notion for
downward departure, that “[i]t’s not out of the heartland, and |’ m
going to deny your notion for a dowmnward departure.” As Castro has
failed to denonstrate that the district court was operating under
an erroneous understanding of the |law when it denied his notion,
his argunent fails.

The district court’s finding that Castro was a nanager

Castro contends that the district court msapplied the
Quidelines when it increased his offense level under U S S G
8§ 3B1.1(b). He bases this allegation on the fact that the district

court did not issue specific findings that he exerci sed sone degree



of control over at |east four other participants. Castro al so
contends that, in light of Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U S. 466
(2000), this issue should have been submtted to a jury.

Under U.S.S.G 8 3Bl1.1(b), athree level increaseis permtted
“[1]f the defendant was a nmanager or supervisor (but not an
organi zer or |eader) and the crimnal activity involved five or
nmore participants or was otherw se extensive.” US S G
8§ 3Bl.1(b). “Proof that the defendant supervised only one other
cul pabl e participant is sufficient to make the defendant eligible
for the enhancenent.” United States v. Cooper, 274 F.3d 230, 247
(5th Gr. 2001). Also, in calculating the nunber of participants,
the defendant may be included anong the five. United States v.
Wl der, 15 F. 3d 1292, 1299 (5th Gr. 1994). |In determ ni ng whet her
a defendant is a l|leader, a court should consider the follow ng
factors: “the exercise of decision nmaking authority, the nature of
participation in the comm ssion of the offense, the recruitnment of
acconplices, the clained right to a larger share of the fruits of

the crine, the degree of participation in planning or organizing

the of fense, the nature and scope of the illegal activity, and the
degree of control and authority exercised over others.” U S S G
§ 3B1.1, comment. (n.4). W review such a factual finding for

clear error. United States v. Thomas, 120 F.3d 564, 574 (5th Cr

1997) .



At sentencing, the prosecutor introduced portions of recorded
conversati ons between Castro and Absal on Muril | o- Ganboa whi ch coul d
reasonably be construed as inplicating Castro as a manager. O her
intercepted wre communications involving Castro were also
present ed. After hearing argunents and reviewi ng the evidence
presented, the district court found that the preponderance of the
credi bl e evidence supported the three point enhancenent. The
district court also | ater adopted the presentence report’s findi ngs
of facts and application of the Guidelines to the facts. The
presentence report’s summary of Castro’s role in the offense
st at es:

Victor Castro is the brother of Jorge Castro and
was a nmanager in this cocaine trafficking
or gani zati on. When Jorge Castro was out of the
county in July/August, 1998, Victor Castro was in
charge of the operation. He recruited Hans Faj ardo
and Jhoyner Angulo-Castro to participate in the
distribution of narcoti cs. Vi ct or Castro
parti ci pat ed and coor di nat ed sever al drug
transaction [sic] including those occurring on July
10, 1998; August 11, 1998; Septenber 1, 8, 11,
1998; and February 10, 1999. According to the DEA
agent, Victor Castro had a separate source of
supply for the cocaine Dbase. He is held
accountable for 4.75 kilograns of cocaine powder
and 231 grans of cocai ne base. As the manager he
shoul d receive a three-|level upward adjustnent for
his role in the offense.

“Odinarily, a PSR [ presentence report] bears sufficient indicia of
reliability to be considered as evidence by the sentencing judge

when making factual determ nations.” Cooper, 274 F.3d at 239

(citing United States v. Narviz-Querra, 148 F. 3d 530, 537 (5th Cr



1998)). “The district court nmay adopt the facts contained in the
PSR wthout further inquiry if the facts have an adequate
evidentiary basis and the defendant does not present rebuttal
evidence.” 1d. (citing United States v. Alford, 142 F. 3d 825, 832
(5th Cr. 1998)). In the present case, it is clear that the
district court not only considered the evidence as to whether the
adj ustnment was justified, but also permssibly relied upon the
presentence report for its findings of fact. As such, Castro has
failed to denonstrate howthe district court’s decision was clearly
erroneous.

As for Castro’'s claim that this issue should have been
presented to a jury, this Court has held that “error under Apprendi
requires reversal only if a defendant’s sentence exceeds the
statutory maxinmum” Cooper, 274 F.3d at 243; United States v.
Keith, 230 F.3d 784, 787 (5th Cr. 2000); United States v. Doggett,
230 F.3d 160, 165 (5th Gr. 2000) (stating that even if a drug
anount is not alleged in the indictnent, Apprendi does not apply
where the sentence is |less than the statutory maxi mum provi ded by
21 U S.C § 841(b)(1)(C). The count to which Castro entered a
plea of guilty alleged that he conspired to possess with intent to
distribute five kilogranms or nore of a mxture or substance
cont ai ni ng cocai ne and 50 grans or nore of a m xture or substance
contai ning cocaine base in violation of 21 U S C 88 841(a)(1),

841(b) (1) (A and 846. This offense has a statutory punishnent
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range of 10 years to Ilife inprisonnent. See 21 US.C
8841(b)(1)(A). Castro’'s sentence of 189 nonths falls within this
statutory range, therefore, Apprendi does not apply.

The district court’s finding that Castro was accountable for 231

grans of crack cocai ne

Rel ying on Apprendi, Castro contends that the district court
erred in holding him accountable for 231 grans of cocaine base
W t hout having submtted the underlying facts supporting the
Guideline adjustnent to a jury. As expl ai ned above, Castro’s
sentence fell within the statutory range set forth for the crineto
which he entered a guilty plea. Therefore, Apprendi does not
apply. Castro also contends, citing United States v. Crockett, 82
F.3d 722 (7th Gr. 1996)), that the nere fact that he engaged in
ot her drug transactions is not sufficient to justify treating those
transactions as “rel evant conduct” for sentencing purposes.

Castro’s argunent is msplaced. Crockett expressed a concern
over whether or not there was a specific finding that the other
drug transactions were part of a common schene or plan involving
the charged offense. ld. at 730. In the present case, the
presentence report clearly states that Castro was accountable for
“4.75 kilograns of cocai ne powder and 231 grans of cocai ne base.”
As stated above, the district court permssibly adopted the
presentence report’s findings and Castro has failed to show any

evi dence that would rebut this finding.
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CONCLUSI ON
Having carefully reviewed the record of this case and the
parties’ respective briefing and for the reasons set forth above,
we conclude that the district court did not err in refusing to
grant Castro a downward departure in his sentence or in enhancing
his sentence. W therefore AFFIRMthe district court’s sentence.

AFF| RMED.
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